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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In July 2005, the Union filed a parties grievance on behalf of all bargaining unit employees represented by AFGE Council of HUD Locals 222 alleging that the Agency violated the Collective Bargaining Agreement (Articles 1,2,3,4 and 11), Prompt Payment Act, Back Pay Act and other applicable MOU’s, MOA’s and agreements and all other applicable law, rule and regulation when it failed to timely process awards.

The Union alleged the Agency violated Article 11, Section 11.02(3) when it failed to process performance awards within (3) pay periods of the date of the decision to make the awards, or the appraisal, whichever is later, on a continuous and repeated basis for the past (6) years.  The remedy sought was that management cease and desist from failing to process and pay awards timely, payment of back pay and interest for untimely awards for the current year, payment of interest for violations of the cited authority for the past 6 years and reasonable attorney fees, cost and expenses.  The union did not present any evidence at the grievance meeting held on January 19, 2006, in support of the Agency violation of Articles 1,2,3,4 or 11.02(3), nor did they present any evidence to support a violation of the Back Pay Act.  The only evidence presented by the Union was a case that dealt with the Prompt Payment Act. The Deciding Official limited the grievance period to fiscal year 2005 citing Article 22.15 of the HUD/AFGE Agreement and denied the grievance. 

    The Union invoked arbitration on February 17, 2006 and the parties jointly agreed on March 1, 2006, to have Mr. Roger Kaplan serve as arbitrator.  During the pre-hearing conference call, both parties agreed to a hearing date but later agreed to submit briefs on the merits of the case instead.  Management issued an information request to the Union on April 6, 2006, asking for any and all documents, reports and case law the Union was using to support its case against the Agency.  The union denied this request on the grounds that they were not required to respond to information request from the Agency.

ISSUES

The issues before the Arbitrator are:

· Did the Union ever establish that the Agency failed to pay awards timely

· Did the alleged violation meet the test for Back Pay

· Was there an established past practice involved in the payment of awards between the Agency and the Union

· Is there an appropriate remedy in this case

FACTS

In July 2005, the Union filed a Grievance of the Parties on behalf of all bargaining unit employees represented by AFGE Council 222, Council of HUD Locals alleging the Agency violated the Collective Bargaining Agreement by failing to timely process awards.  Attached to this memorandum was an information request for awards data on employees from 1999 thru 2005.  This memorandum requested (1) a list of all bargaining unit (BU) employees who management determined should receive an award, (2) the date of the decision to make awards to those employees, (3) the date of the appraisal for each employee, (4) the date management processed the awards for each employee.

Management reviewed the request and submitted the available information to the Union in November 2005.  Request (3) and (4) where found to be the same because our records from the National Finance Center only show the date of appraisal as the date management processed the awards.  The parties discussed settlement but could not agree on the terms.  The Union requested to have a phone presentation on their grievance to the deciding official Ms. Priscilla Lewis, Chief, Labor Relations on January 19, 2006.  The request was granted and the union conducted the call with myself, Ms. Lewis and Mr. Snider.  The presentation consisted of case law on the Prompt Payment Act in support of their position but no documents were provided to show where the Agency had violated any articles.  The union did not present any evidence at the grievance meeting held on January 19, 2006, in support of the Agency violation of Articles 1,2,3,4 or 11.02(3), nor did they present any evidence to support a violation of the Back Pay Act.  The only evidence the Union presented was a case that dealt with the Prompt Payment Act. The Deciding Official denied the grievance and limited the grievance period to fiscal year 2005 citing Article 22.15 of the HUD/AFGE Agreement.  Management requested by email on April 6, 2006, to see any documentation that was being relied upon in this grievance, but the union refused to provide this information.

ARGUMENT

Did the Union ever establish that the Agency failed to pay awards timely

According to Article 11.02 3(a) of the HUD/AFGE contract which states “Management shall process the award granted within (3) pay periods of the date of the decision to make the awards or the appraisal, whichever is later.”  The Agency’s interpretation of this section of the contract is that once management makes the determination that funds are available for awards, a memorandum is issued and managers are then authorized to prepare appraisals that would qualify employees for performance awards.  Once the appraisals are completed by managers and signed by employees, they are processed in National Finance Center (NFC) within the required (3) pay periods.  The appraisal period is not the same for every employee because some employees are under delayed rating cycles as provided in section 37.05 (8), paragraphs (a) through (f) of the HUD/AFGE agreement.  Accordingly, the Agency is not considered late until (3) pay periods after the appraisal date.  The union failed to show any evidence of any specific employees’ performance appraisal for which an award was not issued in a timely fashion.  Therefore, it is the Agency’s contention that the union failed to conclusively prove that awards were untimely for Fiscal year 2005.

Did the alleged violation meet the test for Back Pay

In order for an action to be considered for Back Pay, we must look at the regulations for guidance.  Under 5 CFR 550.804, Determining entitlement to back pay, the regulation states: “(a) When an appropriate authority has determined that an employee was affected by an unjustified or unwarranted personnel action, the employee shall be entitled to back pay under section 5596 of title 5 United States Code, and this subpart only if the appropriate authority finds that the unjustified or unwarranted personnel action resulted in the withdrawal, reduction, or denial of all or part of the pay, allowances, and differentials otherwise due the employee.” See also Department of Agriculture, Federal Grain Inspection Service, Grain Inspection, Packers and stockyard Administration and AFGE, Local 3157, 102 LRP 21863 (FLRA 09/12/02).  In addition, violations of the collective bargaining agreement must show a causal connection between the agency’s actions and the back pay award Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of Prisons, Federal Correctional Institution, Oakdale, LA and AFGE, Council of Prison Locals, Local 3957, 103 LRP 44337(FLRA 09/30/03).  Consequently, if the grievance cannot show any loss of pay or leave, the agency is not liable for any attorneys fees Department of State and AFGE, Local 1534, AFL-CIO, 103 LRP 40 842 (FLRA 09/09/03).  Finally, this grievance alleges that the employee awards were consistently untimely, but does not state that any employee was subject to a withdrawal, reduction or denial of employee awards.  Therefore, this alleged violation does not meet the test for Back Pay and should be denied.

Was there an established past practice involved in the payment of awards between the Agency and the Union

Each year management follows the same processes in completing the requirements for issuing performance awards to employees.  The Agency’s Performance Management Plan for the Performance Management System provides the procedures for

processing performance awards for bargaining unit employees.  Those employees with an overall rating of Outstanding are issued awards approved by the second line supervisor and Human Resources.  The Union has been well aware of these procedures for processing performance awards since 1999.  Yet, there has been no evidence of any grievances filed by the Union on the Agency being untimely until 2005.  The Union was aware of how long the process takes to issue performance awards since 1999 according to their grievance but did not file for 5 years.  When there is ambiguity regarding the meaning of part of the contract, past practice can serve as an interpretation, see, Waukegan News-Sun, 74 LA 1063 (Edes, 1980); where the agreement does not address the issue, see, FWD Corp., 71 LA 929 (Lynch, 1978); and where the point at issue is mentioned in the agreement, but too general for precise application.  See, Barrett Paving Materials, Inc., 78 LA 819 (Murphy, 1982).  Therefore, it is the Agency’s position that this alleged violation is an established past practice that the union was fully aware of but did not oppose until 2005.  

Is there an appropriate remedy in this case


Due to the circumstances involved in this case, it is the Agency’s position that there is no appropriate remedy.  The remedy sought by the union is predicated on the violation being an unjustified or unwarranted personnel action, and that the action resulted in a loss of pay, allowances or differentials.  This case does not fit the requirements under the Back Pay Act to grant the remedy suggested by the union.  There simply was no loss of pay, allowances or differentials.  Additionally, in accordance with Section 22.06 of the HUD/AFGE Agreement, the grievance period is clearly fiscal year 2005 and not six years as stated by the union.  Finally, if there was no unjustified or unwarranted personnel action, there is no obligation for the agency to pay attorney’s fees, see, Association of Civilian Technicians and Department of Defense, Alabama State Military Department, Alabama National Guard, 100 FLRR 1-1071.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and argument, it is respectfully requested that the grievance be denied in its entirety, and that the Union, in accordance with Article 23, Section 23.04 of the HUD/AFGE Agreement, be assessed the full amount of the arbitrator’s fees and expenses.
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